70949-6

NO. 70949-6-I

## COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLAIRE C. WOODWARD, a single individual,

Appellant,

۷.

AVA A. TAYLOR and "JOHN DOE" TAYLOR, wife and husband, and THOMAS G. KIRKNESS and "JANE DOE" KIRKNESS, husband and wife,

Respondents.

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT, CLAIRE C. WOODWARD

DANIEL L. HANNULA Attorney for Appellant

Daniel L. Hannula, WSBA 7830 Harold T. Dodge, Jr. WSBA 15191 Rush, Hannula, Harkins & Kyler, LLP 4701 South 19<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 300 Tacoma, WA 98405 253-383-5388 <u>dhannula@rhhk.com</u> <u>tdodge@rhhk.com</u>



#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In this case, the plaintiff, Washington resident Claire Woodward, is an injured passenger suing her driver, also a Washington resident, for negligence in a one-car, roll-over accident that occurred in Idaho on March 27, 2011. The plaintiff filed suit in King County, Washington more than two years, but less than three years after the roll-over occurred. This is an appeal of the trial court's dismissal on the pleadings of the plaintiff passenger's negligence claim against the defendant driver based on what the plaintiff argues was the erroneous application of Idaho law. The issue on appeal is whether Washington's substantive negligence law, and thus its 3-year statute of limitations, should apply in this case where Washington's relationship to the parties and underlying issue of negligence predominates over Idaho's.

The plaintiff was one of four occupants of the car, all of whom were Washington residents. The four women occupants, all friends, had borrowed the car from one of the women's parents, also a Washington resident, for the purpose of visiting Las Vegas, Nevada. They were returning from their visit, at about 2:30 a.m., driving through mountainous, snowy, icy conditions near Lake

Mountain Home, Idaho on Interstate 84 when the driver spun out on ice, the car flipped 1 ½ times, and plaintiff was injured.

The plaintiff filed suit in King County Superior Court on May 8, 2013 claiming general negligence against the driver: "Defendant Ava Taylor was negligent in driving too fast for the conditions of the roadway at the time and place of the one-car, roll-over collision, as alleged." The suit was filed invoking Washington negligence law, as the only relationship or connection the injury accident had to Idaho was that the roll-over occurred in Idaho.

Defendants filed what was denominated a summary judgment motion, but which was, as recognized by the trial court, a motion on the pleadings asserting that because the roll-over occurred in Idaho, Idaho substantive law applied and that because Idaho substantive law applied, the Idaho 2-year statute of limitation applied. Because the suit was filed more than two years from the date of the injury, the defendant's asked that the defendant driver be dismissed pursuant to Idaho's statute of limitations.

The trial court granted that part of defendants' motion on the pleadings that asked that the plaintiff's claims against the defendant driver be dismissed because they were barred by Idaho's 2-year

statute of limitations. The order was subsequently certified as a final order. This appeal by the injured plaintiff followed.

Plaintiff's appeal questions, in the setting of a motion on the pleadings: (1) whether defendants showed any difference between ldaho's and Washington's law pertaining to the negligence involved in driving too fast for prevailing weather and road conditions such that a conflict of laws question was raised; (2) whether, in a negligent driving case, assuming defendant demonstrates a conflict of laws, Washington courts apply a "most significant relationship" test to determine the choice-of-law, rather than *lex loci delecti*; and (3) whether, if the defendants indeed raised a conflict of laws question, plaintiff has pleaded facts, or demonstrated hypothetical scenarios reasonably within the pleaded factual setting, that supports the application of Washington substantive law to an instance of negligent driving occurring in another state.

#### **II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The trial court erred in entering the order of August 16, 2013 insofar as it granted that part of defendants' motion on the pleadings that sought dismissal of plaintiff's negligence claims against the defendant driver and her alleged spouse (Ava Taylor and "John Doe" Taylor). CP 88-89, *see also* CP 109-16.

Issues Pertaining to the Assignment of Error:

1. In a one-car roll-over injury accident case involving only Washington residents and a car registered to a Washington owner, in which against the Washington driver the injured Washington plaintiff alleged only that "Defendant Ava Taylor was negligent in driving too fast for the conditions of the roadway at the time and place of the one-car, roll-over collision . . .", where the injury accident occurred in Idaho, but suit was filed in Washington invoking Washington negligence law, and where the defendant demonstrates no conflict between Washington and Idaho law regarding the negligence alleged, does Washington's common law of negligence presumptively apply?

2. In a one-car roll-over injury negligent driving case involving only Washington residents and a car registered to a Washington owner, where the injury occurred in Idaho, but suit was filed in Washington, and where Washington's relationships with the parties and the issue of the alleged negligence predominate, if a conflict of laws question is demonstrated does the court engage in a "most significant relationship" test, or has that test been abandoned in favor of application of *lex loci delecti*?

3. Even assuming that a conflict of laws has been raised in a motion for dismissal on the pleadings, in a one-car roll-over injury accident case filed in Washington, involving only Washington residents and a car registered to a Washington owner, in which against the Washington driver the injured Washington plaintiff alleged only that defendant "was negligent in driving too fast for the conditions of the roadway at the time and place of the one-car, rollover collision . . .", where the plaintiff's pleadings and hypotheticals demonstrate that Washington's relationship with the parties and the issue predominate and prevail over Idaho's, does Washington's negligence law, and thus its 3-year statute of limitations, apply to the dispute?

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a single-car, roll-over accident in which the plaintiff, Washington resident Claire Woodward, was a passenger and defendant, Washington resident Ava Taylor, was the driver. CP 1-6, Complaint. The injury occurred in Idaho while the occupants, all Washington residents, were returning from a trip to Las Vegas, Nevada. *Id.* Defendant, Washington resident Thomas Kirkness, is alleged to have negligently entrusted a defective, Washington registered vehicle to his daughter, Katherine

Kirkness, and her three companions, two of whom were Ms. Woodward, a sleeping passenger, and Ms. Taylor, the driver, all Washington residents, for the road trip to Las Vegas. *Id.* He is also alleged to be liable to Ms. Woodward by virtue of the family car doctrine. *Id.* That family resided in Washington. *Id.* All parties were Washington residents.

The trip began and was to end in Washington. *Id.* The vehicle was registered in Washington, garaged in Washington and insured in Washington. *Id.* The negligent entrustment occurred in Washington. *Id.* The agency involved in the family car doctrine was centered in Washington, where Mr. Kirkness and his household resided. *Id.* 

Defendants noted their underlying motion to dismiss, entitled a motion for summary judgment, seeking to dismiss all claims against all defendants. CP 19-33, Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The motion was supported by the declaration of defense attorney Mark Cole; however, the only exhibits to the declaration were the plaintiff's Complaint (Exhibit 1), the Summons (Exhibit 2), and the trial court's Civil Case Schedule (Exhibit 3). *Id.*; *also* CP 32-47, Declaration of Mark S. Cole and exhibits thereto.

Defendants' motion was submitted solely on the basis of the

pleadings and no factual material outside the pleadings was introduced. In turn, plaintiff, in her opposition, relied on the pleadings and her right to postulate hypotheticals that she could reasonably prove within the pleadings, as is allowed on CR 12 (b) motions, which this "summary judgment" essentially was. CP 48-81, Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, including Exhibit 1 thereto (Answer of Defendants Taylor) and Exhibit 2 (Answer of Defendants Kirkness).

i.

The trial court recognized that defendants' motion was a motion on the pleadings, not a summary judgment. VRP p. 4, lines 1-7; p. 27, lines 3-7. The trial judge also modified the proposed order granting the defendants Taylor their requested dismissal to reflect that it was a motion on the pleadings, not a summary judgment motion. CP 88-90, Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendants' Motion on the Pleadings.

The plaintiff, Claire Woodward, the injured passenger, is a King County, Washington resident, as pled in her Complaint, CP 1, para. 1.1.

Defendant Ava Taylor, the driver being sued, is a King County, Washington resident. CP 70, Defendants Taylor's Answer, para. 2.

Defendant Thomas Kirkness is a resident of King County,

Washington. CP 77, Defendants Kirkness's Answer, para. 3.

The Complaint alleges the following:

2.1. On about March 27, 2011, plaintiff Claire Woodward was a passenger in a car being driven by defendant Ava Taylor. The car was traveling west on Interstate 84 near Lake Mountain Home, in Ada County, Idaho. Also passengers in the car were Katherine Kirkness and Angelina Miller. The group was returning from a trip to Las Vegas, Nevada. The trip had originated in Washington where each of the car's occupants resided and the group was returning to their homes in Washington. The car was owned by defendant Thomas Kirkness, a Washington resident. The car was registered in Washington. Defendant Thomas Kirkness insured the car in Washington. Defendant Thomas Kirkness customarily kept the car at his residence in Washington and maintained the car in Washington. At the time and place of the one-car collision described hereafter, the group was merely passing through Idaho on their way back to their homes in Washington.

2.2. Defendant Thomas Kirkness had given permission to his daughter, Katherine Kirkness and the group composed of the remainder of the car's occupants to use the car for their trip to and from Las Vegas, Nevada. Said permission was given in Washington. Defendant Mr. Kirkness knew when he gave permission for his daughter and the group to use the car to travel to and from Las Vegas, Nevada, that the car's speedometer was defective.

2.3. At about 2:30 a.m. on March 27, 2011, plaintiff Claire Woodward was a passenger, as described. She was wearing a lap and shoulder belt and was seated in the right, rear passenger seat. Defendant Ava Taylor was driving the car. The group was driving through mountainous terrain. There was snow on the ground and ice on the roadway. Snow was visible on the sides of the road and the road was slick with ice. On the same road, sometime earlier, the group had witnessed a car in front of them spin out due to the slick road conditions. Despite these conditions, the driver, defendant Ava Taylor set the cruise control at 82 m.p.h. The posted speed limit was 75 m.p.h.

2.4. As the group was traveling, as described, defendant Ms. Taylor encountered a patch of ice and lost control of the car. The car went into a spin and drifted sideways, caught its tires on the dirt near the shoulder of the road and rolled 1 ½ times, coming to rest on its roof. Ms. Woodward was tangled in her seatbelt and unable to detach her seatbelt. She was injured. She had to be extracted from the car by responding aid personnel. She was transported via ambulance to a nearby hospital.

2.5. A state trooper responded to the scene of the roll-over. The trooper drove the stretch of highway leading up to the point at which defendant Ava Taylor lost control of the car and confirmed that snow was visible along the roadway leading to the spot and ice was visible in the roadway leading to the spot.

2.6. As a proximate result of the described one-car roll-over, plaintiff Claire Woodward was injured, including, but by no means limited to, a complex comminuted fracture of her neck, at her C2 vertebra.

#### III. NEGLIGENCE – DEFENDANT AVA TAYLOR

3.1. Plaintiff incorporates sections I and II of this complaint herein as if fully set forth.

3.2. Defendant Ava Taylor was negligent in driving too fast for the conditions of the roadway at the time and place of the one-car, roll-over collision, as alleged.

3.3. As a proximate result of the alleged negligence, plaintiff Claire Woodward suffered personal injuries and damages including, but not limited to: physical injury, disfigurement and disability, which is permanent; physical and emotional pain and suffering to date, which more likely than not will continue in the future; and loss of enjoyment of life to date, which is permanent. As a further proximate result of the negligence alleged, Ms. Woodward: has incurred health care bills and costs to date and more likely than not will incur additional health care bills and costs in the future; has sustained interruption of her education, which has resulted in increased costs associated with tuition, books, fees, meals and other ancillary costs; has sustained a loss of income; and has sustained a loss of earning capacity.

Complaint, CP pp. 2-4. Plaintiff also alleged against defendants

Kirkness negligent entrustment and liability under the family car

doctrine. The relationships out of which these allegations grew are

all centered in Washington; however, those claims were not

dismissed and are not at issue on this appeal.

In her Answer, defendant Ava Taylor has pled Idaho's host-

guest statute as a bar to plaintiff's recovery:

22. Plaintiff was a guest passenger and is not entitled to recover under statutes of the State of Idaho.

Defendants Taylor's Answer, CP 73, para. 22. In his Answer,

defendant Thomas Kirkness has also pled Idaho's host-guest

statute as a bar to plaintiff's recovery:

22. Plaintiff was a guest passenger and is not entitled to recover under statutes of the State of Idaho.

Defendants Kirkness's Answer, CP 79, para 22.

The trial court considered all briefing and heard oral argument on the matter and granted defendants' motion on the

pleadings to dismiss the negligence claim against the defendant

driver:

First of all, the Court is construing this as a motion on the pleadings and, in that light, the Court considers the facts of the light most favorable to the Plaintiff and any hypotheticals in favor of the plaintiff.

The Court does start with [R.C.W.] 4.18.020, which statute says if a claim is based upon the law of one other state, the Statute of Limitations of that state applies unless – and there is further language. Generally speaking, the substance of the cases hold that in a personal injury case the law of the state where the injury occurs applies, unless another state has a greater interest in a particular issue.

The *Ellis* case clearly holds that in a negligence action, that's based upon the rules of the road, is subject to the law of the state where an accident occurred.

In this case there is an allegation of speeding. The speeding has to be based upon the rules of the road where the accident occurred. It has to be based upon the traffic laws of the state of Idaho. The traffic laws of the state of Idaho have been demonstrated to be different and in conflict with the traffic laws of the state of Washington. There is an allegation in the Complaint that the driving was above the posted speed limit.

So the Court would find as to the claim of negligence against Defendant Ava Taylor that I would grant the Motion to Dismiss as outside Idaho's two-year Statute of Limitations, that 4.18.020 applies, that the *Ellis* case is determinative of this issue.

VRP p.27, line 2 - p. 28, line 9; see also CP p. 88-89, Order

Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendants Motion on the

Pleadings.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The plaintiff argues that the trial court should have applied Washington substantive negligence law, which would have meant the application of Washington's 3-year statute of limitations. Such a result would have resulted in denial of defendants' requested dismissal of the defendant driver.

As evident in plaintiff's Complaint, the plaintiff, Ms. Woodward, has pled only general negligence against the driver. She has pled negligent driving on the part of defendant Ava Taylor based on Ms. Taylor's driving too fast for the snowy, icy conditions.

Plaintiff has not pled a cause of action against defendant for speeding. She has not pled the violation of any statutes, regulations or rules of the road peculiar to Idaho. No conflict is demonstrated between Washington's and Idaho's negligence law with regard to driving too fast for conditions. Therefore, Washington law applies.

The plaintiff argues that Washington's relationship with the parties and issues in the case on appeal predominates and prevails over Idaho's. In point of the facts pled, as well as hypothetically within the scenario pled by plaintiff, she could well prove that Washington has every relationship with the parties and with plaintiff's claims and allegations and that Idaho's sole relationship

to this matter is that the accident happened there. Washington's overwhelming relationships to the parties and to Ms. Woodward's claims of negligence and injury should lead to the conclusion that Washington's substantive negligence law applies and that, therefore, Washington's 3-year statute of limitations for negligence claims applies.

#### V. ARGUMENT

## A. Standard of Review of an Order of Dismissal on the Pleadings is *De Novo*.

The Court of Appeals reviews an order for judgment on the pleadings *de novo*. In reviewing an order entering judgment on the pleadings, the Court of Appeals examines the pleadings to determine whether the claimant can prove any set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the claimant to relief. The Court of Appeals may consider any factual scenario under which the litigant might have a valid claim, including facts asserted for the first time on appeal. *North Coast Enterprises, Inc. v. Factoria Partnership, et al.*, 94 Wn. App. 855, 858-59, 974 P.2d 1257 (1999).

## B. Conflict of Law Analysis in Washington.

#### 1. Washington's Law Presumptively Applies.

Washington law is presumed to apply in a case filed in

Washington by a Washington resident against other Washington

residents. It is up to any party advocating the application of a

different state's law due to conflicts of law to demonstrate the

conflict to the opposing party and to the court:

A scholar in the field of conflict of laws, Professor Currie, suggests several principles that serve as a useful starting point in choice of law analysis:

1. The normal business of courts being the adjudication of domestic cases, and the normal tendency of lawyers and judges being to think in terms of domestic law, the normal expectation should be that the rule of decision will be supplied by the domestic law as a matter of course.

2. The court should ordinarily depart from this procedure only at the instance of a party wishing to obtain the advantage of a foreign law.

3. The law of the forum, as the source of the rule of decision, should normally be displaced only by the interested party's timely invocation of the foreign law. The interested party invokes foreign law by calling attention to its relevance and its superior claim to be applied, and by informing the court of its tenor.

(Italics ours.) Brainerd Currie, Selected Essays on the Conflicts of Laws 75 (1963).

Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 Wn.2d 93, 100, 864 P.2d 937

(1994) (emphasis in the original); see also, Williams v. State 76

Wn. App. 237, 240-41, 885 P.2d 845 (1994).

# 2. If No Conflict of Laws Exists, Washington Law Applies.

Unless a party advocating the application of another state's law first demonstrates that an actual conflict of law exists and should be applied to the controversy, Washington law will apply. A choice of law determination is made only if there is an actual conflict between the laws or interests of Washington and the laws or interests of another state. *Burnside, supra*, 123 Wn.2d at 100-04; *Seizer v. Sessions*, 82 Wn. App. 87, 92, 915 P.2d. 553 (1996).

## 3. <u>Differences in Limitation Periods do Not Present a</u> <u>Conflicts Issue</u>.

The conflict must consist of a conflict in substantive law or policy; the difference between Washington's limitation periods and another state's limitation periods never constitutes a conflict and is never analyzed as a conflict:

. . . variations in limitation periods are not subject to conflict of laws methodology.

*Rice v. Dow Chemical Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 205, 210, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994).

## 4. <u>If an Actual Conflict Exists, then the "Most</u> <u>Significant Relationship" Standard Applies to</u> <u>Determine Choice-of-Law.</u>

Only after an actual conflict in substantive law is

demonstrated to exist do Washington Courts engage in a conflict of

law analysis, which involves examining which state has the most

significant relationship to the parties and issues:

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