D9444-4

Case No. 70949-6-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLAIRE C. WOODWARD, a single individual,

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

In July 1985, Rice learned from his physician that he had chronic lymphocytic leukemia and was informed of the possible connection between his illness and the exposure to Dow's chemicals. Rice filed a lawsuit on June 8, 1988 in the Pierce County Superior Court, in Washington. The trial court judge granted Defendant Dow's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Rice's claims. Rice appealed.

The Supreme Court stated that variations in limitation periods are not resolved by a traditional conflicts of law analysis. Rather, a court looks to RCW 4.18.020. Under that statute, a court must first determine which state's substantive law applies. *Rice*, 124 Wn.2d at 210.

The *Rice* Court evaluated which state had the most significant contacts. Rice argued that he was a resident of Washington, and Washington had an interest in "seeing to it that its residents are compensated for personal injuries". *Rice*, 124 Wn.2d at 216.

The Supreme Court indicated that this was not an overriding concern. At page 216 of 124 Wn.2d, the Supreme Court stated:

"Although this is a real interest, recognizing this as an overriding concern, despite the lack of contacts, would mean that Washington law would be applied in all tort cases involving any Washington resident, regardless of where all the activity relating to the tort occurred. Furthermore, residency in the forum state alone has not been considered a sufficient relation to the action to warrant application of forum law. See, e.g., Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145 cmt. e (1971) ("The fact ... that one of the parties is domiciled ... in a given state will usually carry little weight of itself."); Ferren v. General Motors Corp., 137 N.H. 423, 427, 628 A.2d 265 (1993) ("The possibility that the employee might change his residence at any time, after the injury, and thus shift the burden of support to another state, makes the fact of present residence less significant.") (quoting Robert A. Leflar, American Conflicts Law § 160, at 329-30 (3d ed. 1977)).

At page 216 of 124 Wn.2d, the Supreme Court noted

Oregon's interest in the matter:

Oregon's interest is in providing repose for manufacturers doing business in Oregon and whose products are used in Oregon state. The fact that a person living in Oregon, who is exposed to allegedly harmful chemicals while at work in Oregon, using products shipped to Oregon, later moves to another state does not extinguish Oregon's interest in allegedly dangerous or mislabeled products used within its state's boundaries. Applying Oregon law achieves a uniform result for injuries caused by products used in the state of Oregon and predictability for manufacturers whose products are used or consumed in Oregon."

The Supreme Court concluded that Oregon law would

apply to the substantive claims in that case. As a result, the

Oregon statute of limitations would apply as well. *Rice*, 124 Wn.2d at 217.

Appellant Woodward was a Washington resident. However, as the Supreme Court indicated in *Rice, supra,* this is not an overriding concern. Otherwise, Washington law would be applied to all tort cases involving any Washington resident, regardless of where the activity relating to the tort occurred.

In the case at bar, Defendants are also Washington residents. However, it does not appear that this would be an overriding concern. Washington has no interest in requiring its residents to comply with Washington's "rules of the road" when they are driving in other states. Indeed, the better policy is to encourage Washington residents to comply with the rules of the road for the particular state that the resident is driving in. In this regard, Washington courts should similarly promote policies which require drivers from other states to comply with Washington's rules of the road while they are driving in Washington. Washington has no interest in encouraging drivers from other states to be guided by the "rules of the road" of their home state while they are driving on Washington roads.

Consistent with the Supreme Court's analysis in *Rice*, Idaho has an interest in providing "rules of that road" for those persons utilizing the roads in Idaho, whether those persons are Idaho residents or residents of other states. The fact that a person utilizing an Idaho road is from another state does not extinguish Idaho's interest in providing for the safety of all persons who travel upon the roads of Idaho. Applying Idaho substantive law achieves a uniform result for injuries caused by accidents in the State of Idaho and predictability for both plaintiffs and defendants who are involved in accidents on the roads of Idaho.

In the case of *Hein v. Taco Bell, Inc.,* 60 Wn.App. 325, 803 P.2d 329 (1991), the substantive law of California applied to a tort occurring in California, even though the Plaintiff was a Washington resident and the Defendant did business in Washington. Dr. Hein purchased a taco salad at a Taco Bell restaurant in Anaheim, California. Shortly thereafter, he bit into the salad and cracked several teeth. Dr. Hein found that there had been an aluminum staple in the salad.

Dr. Hein was a resident of Washington. Taco Bell did business in both California and Washington.

Dr. Hein filed suit against Defendant Taco Bell in the King County Superior Court.

Defendant Taco Bell moved to dismiss on the basis of lack of jurisdiction and on the grounds that Plaintiff failed to file suit within one year, as required by the California statute of limitations. The trial court dismissed the case on jurisdictional grounds. Plaintiff appealed.

The Court of Appeals determined that the court had jurisdiction, but dismissed Plaintiff's case because Plaintiff failed to file suit within one year, as required by the California statute of limitations. In this regard, the Court of Appeals noted that Washington had adopted the Uniform Conflict of Laws -Limitations Act, set forth in RCW 4.18.020, 030, and 040.

Hein conceded that the substantive law of California applied to the claim. This concession was consistent with the fact that both the conduct and the injury occurred in California. In light of RCW 4.18.020, the Court of Appeals determined that California statute of limitations must apply.

Hein argued, however, that California's one year statute of limitation was unreasonable when applied to a Washington plaintiff. The Court of Appeals dismissed the argument. In this regard, the Court of Appeals stated:

"This argument is without merit. The fact that a forum state's limitation period is shorter than Washington's does not justify the application of the "escape clause" in RCW 4.18.040. Uniform Conflict of Laws-Limitations Act § 4 comment, 12 U.L.A. 59 (Supp. 1990). Absent other evidence indicating unfairness, we hold that the California limitation period provided Hein with a "fair opportunity" to sue."

### 3. Appellant's Traditional Conflicts of Law Analysis is Inapplicable

Appellant seeks to employ a traditional conflicts of law analysis to determine which statute of limitations applies. That approach is incorrect for several reasons.

First, the approach ignores RCW 4.18.020, which specifically governs the statute of limitations issue.

Second, in *Rice,* the Washington Supreme Court stated that a statute of limitations issue is not subject to conflict of laws methodology. Curiously, Appellant cited *Rice* for the correct proposition that "... variations in limitation periods are not subject to conflict of laws methodology". *See* Page 34 of Appellant's Brief. Nevertheless, Appellant proceeded with a traditional conflicts of law analysis to determine which statute of limitations should apply.

The correct methodology was described by the Supreme Court in *Rice* as follows:

"...Washington adopted the Uniform Conflict of Laws – Limitations Act (Act) in 1983. Under this act, the "borrowing statute", RCW 4.18.020, indicates that there is first a determination of which state's substantive law applies before there is any consideration of which state's statute of limitations applies. ..."

The Rice Court went on to state:

"After the forum chooses that substantive law of another state, then the state's limitation period will apply."

See 15 Lewis H. Orland and Karl Tegland, Wash. Prac., Trial

Practice § 433, at 145 (1986).

Plaintiff has failed to comply with RCW 4.18.020 and has

contradicted the holding of *Rice, supra.* 

In her brief, Appellant evaluates whether there is an actual conflict of laws between Washington and Idaho. While such an evaluation may be necessary in traditional conflicts of law methodology, the evaluation is completely unnecessary in this case. The reason is that a traditional conflicts of law methodology is not utilized to determine statute of limitations issues. Rather, the statute of limitations issue is evaluated under RCW 4.18.020, using the methodology stated by the Supreme Court in the *Rice* case.

Although an evaluation of actual conflicts between Washington law and Idaho law is unnecessary, the actual conflicts in the substantive law between the two states illustrate why Idaho substantive law should apply to this case.

Plaintiff alleged in her Complaint that the speed limit posted on the Idaho highway was 75 m.p.h. CP 3, Plaintiff's Complaint, Line 15. This is consistent with Idaho Code § 49-654.

The speed limit for the State of Washington is set forth in RCW 46.61.400 at 60 m.p.h., subject to changes in the maximum speed limit as determined by the Secretary of State.

Clearly, the substantive law of Washington and Idaho are different. This difference goes to the heart of Plaintiff's case. Woodward alleges that Taylor engaged in the following conduct: "Despite these conditions, the driver, Defendant Ava Taylor set the cruise control at 82 m.p.h. The posted speed limit was 75 m.p.h." CP 3, Plaintiff's Complaint, Lines 14-16. Woodward

alleged further that Taylor was driving "too fast for the conditions". CP 4, Plaintiff's Complaint, Lines 9-11.

It would be unfair to Respondents, and misleading for a jury, if the jury heard evidence that the cruise control was set at 82 m.p.h., and then the jury was instructed that the applicable speed limit was 60 m.p.h. pursuant to Washington statute.

The jury's view of the case would be dramatically different if they heard evidence that the cruise control was set at 82 m.p.h., and then were instructed that the applicable speed limit was 75 m.p.h. pursuant to Idaho law.

Further, a jury would be confused if they heard evidence that the posted speed limit was 75 m.p.h., but were instructed that the applicable speed limit was 60 m.p.h. pursuant to Washington statute RCW 46.61.400.

Where the conduct and the accident occurred in Idaho, the substantive law of Idaho should apply. To decide otherwise would make the trial of this case confusing and nonsensical to the trier of fact and could lead to an unfair and unjust result.

It is clear that Woodward originally intended to apply Idaho substantive law to her case. Otherwise, there would have been

no reason to make the factual allegation that Taylor had set the cruise control to 82 m.p.h. when the posted speed limit was 75 m.p.h.

In her brief, Appellant asserts that this case is not about "speeding". Appellant attempts to argue that her allegations about the cruise control and posted speed limit were "merely factual allegations". Appellant overlooks the fact that evidence about speed will be highly important in the case. For example, if the evidence showed that Taylor has slowed her vehicle to 71 m.p.h., and the jury is instructed that the applicable speed limit is 75 m.p.h. pursuant to Idaho statute, a jury could conclude that Taylor slowed her vehicle to a speed below that of the posted limit, and therefore, was not negligent. On the other hand, if the evidence showed that Taylor had slowed her vehicle to 71 m.p.h., and the jury is instructed that the applicable speed limit is and therefore, was not negligent. On the other hand, if the evidence showed that Taylor had slowed her vehicle to 71 m.p.h., and the jury is instructed that the applicable speed limit is to 60 m.p.h., or even 70 m.p.h. pursuant to Washington statute, a jury could conclude that Taylor was negligent.

Such a result would be contrary to the factors set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 6 (1971). Washington should avoid a policy which exposes Washington

residents to greater liability where a Washington resident is driving in Idaho, is driving in compliance with Idaho rules of the road, but whose driving is contrary to Washington rules of the road. If a Washington resident is driving in Idaho, is in compliance with Idaho rules of the road, and an accident and injury occurs in Idaho, Washington should promote a policy which permits the Washington driver to assert defenses based on Idaho rules of the road, and not face greater liability because of differing Washington rules of the road.

Washington should avoid a policy of encouraging or requiring Washington drivers to ignore the rules of the road of the state in which they are driving, and follow Washington's rules of the road, no matter where they are driving. Such a policy would create confusion and greatly increase the danger of accidents.

Such a policy would ignore the legitimate interests of Idaho in creating understandable "rules of the road" to guide all drivers. It would frustrate the legitimate interests of Idaho in maintaining safety on its roadways.

Such a policy would not protect justified expectations. Indeed, people driving in Idaho, no matter where they reside,

have an expectation that the applicable speed limit is the Idaho speed limit, not speed limits utilized in other states.

Such a policy would be contrary to the basic policies underlying motor vehicle accident tort law. Such a policy would not be consistent with certainty, predictability and uniformity of result. Rather, such a policy would create confusion and increase the danger of accidents.

Such a policy would not ease determination and application of the law to be applied. Indeed, such a policy would be contrary to ease of determination and application. As an example, applying Washington substantive law to the case at bar would result in a trial where a jury would hear evidence that the posted speed limit was 75 m.p.h., but the jury is instructed that the applicable speed limit is 60 m.p.h., pursuant to Washington statute.

Another difference in the substantive law concerns the obligations of a driver when a "special hazard" or condition exists. The wording of Idaho Code § 49-654 is different from RCW 46.61.400. The Idaho statute states in pertinent part:

"Consistent with the foregoing, every person shall drive at a safe and appropriate speed... when special hazards

exist... by reason of weather or highway conditions."

Another portion of the statute states in pertinent part:

"Where no special hazard or condition exists that requires lower speed for compliance with subsection (1)... the limits as hereinafter authorized shall be maximum lawful speeds."

Pursuant to this wording, Respondents can argue, and a jury could conclude, that if special hazards due to weather or road conditions exist, the driver may drive at a safe and appropriate speed, unless the hazard or condition is such that it **requires** a lower speed.

In contrast, RCW 46.61.400 states in pertinent part:

"The driver of every vehicle shall... drive at an appropriate reduced speed... when special hazard exists... by reason of weather or highway conditions."

Under this statute, Appellant Woodward could argue that it is mandatory for a driver to reduce speed any time a special hazard caused by weather or road conditions is present. This contrasts with the argument which can be made under the Idaho statute that a driver can continue at a reasonable and prudent speed, and no reduction is necessary unless the special conditions are such that a reduction in speed is **required**.

Thus, there is no question that the wording of the statutes

is different. There is a true conflict, because the difference in the wording of the statute permits differing arguments to a jury. Further, the difference in the wording may result in the jury applying the statutes differently to the specific facts of the case. This is particularly true in the case at bar, where Woodward has made allegations that the snow or ice was present on the roadway.

Another difference in the substantive laws concerns contributory fault.

Under Idaho Code § 6-801, the contributory negligence of the plaintiff will not bar recovery by the plaintiff so long as plaintiff's negligence is smaller than the negligence of the defendant. This, of course, is different from Washington's contributory fault statute, RCW 4.22.070.

Woodward argues that there is no conflict between the two statutes because, according to Ms. Woodward, she did not contribute at all to her own injury.

However, as Appellant herself points out, there has been no discovery in this action. If, after discovery, there is evidence indicating that Woodward was urging Taylor to drive as fast as

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